
1 

 

CITY OF HANOVER 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

OCTOBER 3, 2023  

 

Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance: 

Mayor Chris Kauffman called the regular meeting of Tuesday, October 3, 2023, to order at 7:00 p.m. 

Present were Council Members MaryAnn Hallstein, Mike Amery, and Greg Zgutowicz.  Also present 

were City Administrator Jennifer Nash, City Attorney Jay Squires, City Engineer Jenn Edison, Public 

Works Interim Supervisor Jason Ramthun, City Clerk Jenny Peterson and Accountant/Deputy Clerk 

Jackie Heinz.  Absent was Thomas Dierberger.  Guests present were Scott Thielman, Anita Underberg, 

Kelly Perkins, Chadd Perkins, Scott and Christina Kenney, Chad Olson, Jim Schendel, Tyler Gearin, 

and Emily Vojtech from the Wright County Journal Press.  

 

Approval of Agenda: 

MOTION by Hallstein to approve the agenda, seconded by Amery. Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Consent Agenda: 

Amery removed item I – Resolution 10-03-23-82 – Approving CUP for Garage at 825 Katydid Lane to 

item 7c. 

MOTION by Amery to approve the amended consent agenda, seconded by Hallstein.   

a. Approve Minutes of September 19, 2023 City Council Work Session Meeting 

b. Approve Claims as Presented: 

➢ Claims   $     68,002.67 

➢ Payroll    $       7,323.04 

➢ P/R taxes & Exp $       3,095.55 

➢ Other Claims  $       $       2,217.24 

➢ Total Claims     $     80,638.50 

c. Resolution 10-03-23-76 – Accepting Donation from Influence Ministries for Fire Dept (8) 

d. Resolution 10-03-23-77 – Approving 2024 Concerts in the Park (9) 

e. Resolution 10-03-23-78 – Accepting River’s Edge 2nd Final Improvements (10) 

f. Resolution 10-03-23-79 – Approving River’s Edge 5th Final Plat (12) 

g. Resolution 10-03-23-80 – Approving Pay Voucher #1 for Cardinal Park Project (26) 

h. Resolution 10-03-23-81 – Accepting Crow River Heights West 6th Utilities (31) 

 

Citizen’s Forum  

 Buffalo Hanover Montrose School District Superintendent Thielman 

Thielman referred to a double-sided handout and stated there will be a public informational meeting on 

Tuesday, October 10th at 7:00 pm at the Hanover Elementary School.  Thielman stated residents received 

the school district newsletter with more information regarding the school district’s bond referendum 

request for $41.5 million to improve and maintain school buildings.  Thielman stated if the bond 

referendum passes, residents will not be paying any more than now as there are some bonds expiring to 

coincide with this request.  Thielman stated some of the improvements which would be made if passed: 

• Secure entrances at the Middle School and High School 

• HVAC Systems @ 4 Elementary Schools 

• Install a Chilled Water Plant at the High School 

• Replace Demountable Walls at Hanover Elementary School and the Middle School 



2 

 

• All Playgrounds would go to a padded pebble surface 

• Updates to the Performing Arts Center at the High School 

• Servers and Wireless Access Points 

Kauffman stated the last bond was in 2014 which was 10 years ago, Thielman stated it drops off in 9 

years.  Kauffman inquired how much is open now, Thielman stated $32M.  Amery inquired if a notice 

was sent to taxpayers, Thielman stated a notice isn’t required on a bond referendum.  Amery inquired 

how long this bond is for, Thieman stated they anticipate the term would likely be for 15 years.  Amery 

stated he believes materials distributed by the District are deceptive when stating the request would not 

increase tax bill to property owners.  He said he is not speaking to the merits of the project needs 

themselves, but rather has concern about how the District has described the request in their distributed 

materials.   Amery stated this is like a loan, once it is paid the debt is fulfilled, why should taxpayers 

keep paying.  Amery expressed concern that the notice distributed by the District doesn’t state in their 

description of the request that there would be a tax increase.  Thielman noted that taxes would go down 

if the bond referendum is not approved as current debt is expiring, and this new debt if approved would 

replace that expiring debt and keep tax rate consistent with where it currently is.  Thielman further stated 

everything has been done by the book and checked by their attorneys and financial consultants.  

 

Hallstein inquired if there was any movement on the state or federal level for funding increases to pay 

for mandates they put in place to districts.  Thielman stated he has not seen recent movement on that 

effort.  Kauffman inquired about a recent law change that affected school districts’ requirement to go to 

voters to approve funding. Thielman stated that law applied to operating referenda that school districts 

had in place that permitted one-time renewal.  Hallstein inquired if the school district has reached out to 

Representative Lucero or if the funding formula has been changed, and Thielman stated the District 

continues to bring attention to this issues as $7M is taken out annually to fill the gap for services they 

are mandated to provide that are underfunded.   

 

 Hanover Wine and Spirits Owner Perkins 

Liquor store owner Chadd Perkins stated he is losing business due to the moratorium the City has in 

place on sale of THC, cannabis and hemp-derived products.  His customers are asking when things are 

going to happen, customers are taking their liquor sales with them.  Hallstein inquired if Perkins has 

another location that is able to sell THC products.  Perkins stated their location in Greenfield is permitted 

to sell some THC products.  Zgutowicz inquired if Perkins has explored other cities for guidance and 

what they allow, Perkins stated he has not.  A resident in the audience stated he has Discussion continued 

around the purpose of a moratorium, receiving guidance from the state, cities allowing the sale of 

cannabis and number of businesses allowed to sell.  Mayor Kauffman noted the moratorium remains in 

place until January 2025 so that further guidance can be provided by the League of Minnesota Cities and 

the State of Minnesota regarding regulation of THC, cannabis and hemp-derived products. 

 

 Christina Kenney – 10818 River Road NE 

Kenney stated she is here regarding the developments going on next to her house, she talked with the 

Planning Commission and would like to request rezoning of the property adjacent to her to residential.  

Kenney stated she would like a review of the property and how it fits now with the comprehensive plan.  

Kenney stated the daycare is the only commercial property in the area, there are ponds and wetlands and 

if it’s kept residential the woods would be kept.  Kenney further stated there is no sidewalk access to the 

commercial area since the sidewalk will be on the south side of the road, the speed limit is high, and 

people couldn’t cross.  Hallstein stated council doesn’t see the information going out, these items are 



3 

 

brought to Planning Commission first, the property has been zoned commercial, was briefly changed to 

residential, then back to commercial.  Hallstein further stated there are not a lot of places in the city for 

commercial buildings, the city has looked and will look again.  Hallstein stated the MN Design Team 

Event showed residents would like a coffee shop or place to get their hair cut.  Kenney stated she 

participated in the MN Design Team Event; green space was also brought up and the preservation of 

them.  Hallstein stated the Three Rivers Park District is in town. 

 

Public Hearings 

 None 

 

Unfinished Business 

 City Hall Parking Lot Options 

Ramthun stated on July 11th council approved repairs to the city hall parking lot by DMJ asphalt, those 

repairs were completed the week of September 11th.  Ramthun stated in the packet are the amounts 

quoted by Pearson Brothers and DMJ Asphalt for the city hall parking lot to get seal coated, chip sealed, 

and fog sealed.  Hallstein inquired what the difference is, Ramthun stated a sealcoat is just oil and 

normally done on residential driveways for a fresh look, with a chip seal, oil is put down then chips.  Fog 

seal is another layer of oil put on top of the chips, it will improve the pavement life.  Kauffman inquired 

if the price will be held until 2024, Heinz stated yes, the work would be completed in late May or early 

June.   

 

MOTION by Hallstein to approve a chip seal and fog seal by Pearson Brothers in the amount of 

$23,450.00, followed by layout and striping of the lot by MN Stripes for $860.00, seconded by Amery.  

Motion carried unanimously. 

 

New Business 

Resolution 10-03-23-83 – Approve Hire of Public Works Maintenance 

Nash stated two candidates were interviewed by Ramthun and Nash.  Staff are recommending the hire 

of Micheal Thompson for one of the open public works maintenance positions.  More candidates are 

being reviewed to set up interviews for the other open public works position, and there is also a temporary 

winter position available centered around snow clearing. 

 

MOTION by Hallstein to approve Resolution 10-03-23-83, seconded by Zgutowicz.  Motion carried 

unanimously. 

 

 Minnesota Design Team Presentation 

Nash stated the MNDT presentation is being included for your information.  This is a long-term project 

and influences reviews and conversations as they come up as well to capitalize on opportunities as they 

present.  The next goal for staff is to create list from this which the park board, planning commission 

and EDA may want to discuss further.  Hallstein stated it takes a whole community to see vision move 

forward. 

 

 Resolution 10-03-23-82 – Approving CUP for Garage at 825 Katydid Lane 

Amery stated this item was on the agenda at the planning commission meeting, they are recommending 

approval of the CUP with conditions.  The homeowner wants the accessory structure in front of the home 

which is not permitted as first shown. Amery inquired if the owner moved the location as necessary for 



4 

 

this action. Nash noted the survey provided in the packet was submitted after the Planning meeting and 

shows the new location of the garage moved back behind the front of the existing primary structure, and 

the variance requested at the Planning level had been withdrawn by the applicant.  Hallstein inquired if 

any residents talked for or against, Amery stated no one opposed.  

 

MOTION by Amery to approve Resolution 10-03-23-82, seconded by Zgutowicz.  Motion carried 

unanimously. 

 

Reports  

Edison 

• County Road 20 will be closed beginning Monday, October 9th for water and sewer installation, 

the contractor is finding the same material of large rocks and cobble which is making things 

difficult, the county is requesting everything be done all together. 

Zgutowicz 

• Park Board has some fun bands lined up for 2024. 

• The Pumpkin Decorating Event is taking place on Saturday, October 14th. 

Hallstein 

• All Parks are named and updated on Google. 

Amery 

• The Planning Commission met regarding the commercial development on 20, the developer is 

proposing 9 separate stand-alone buildings, the concept was tabled for now. 

Nash 

• Jenny Peterson, the new city clerk started yesterday. 

• EDA has an upcoming meeting which the Planning Commission is planning to attend and discuss 

commercial needs. 

Heinz 

• The color was applied to the pickleball court at Cardinal Park today, the striping of the lines on 

the pickleball court, basketball court and basketball court at Mallard will be completed by the 

end of the week, the nets and fence completion will be done on Monday and the project should 

be complete. 

• Attended the Government Finance Officers Conference in Alex last week, great topics and 

sessions, Ian Leonard was fantastic. 

 

Adjournment 

A motion was made by Amery and seconded by Zgutowicz to adjourn at 8:18 p.m.  All in favor.  

Motion carried.   

        

APPROVED BY: 

 

 

       __________________________________ 

       Chris Kauffman, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

        

___________________________________ 

Jennifer Nash, City Administrator 


